FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/13/2023 3:36 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102190-9 No. 56725-3-11

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Dr. AMELIA BESOLA, Administrator and Petitioner,

Appellant,

V.

ERIC PULA, individually and as PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE MARK L. BESOLA, and ET AL.,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

Jose F. Vera of Vera & Associates PLLC WSBA #25534, Attorney for Petitioners 100 West Harrison Street, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 793-8318 Josevera@veraassociates.com

###

### I. INTRODUCTION

This is the last appeal from the problem prone Estate of Mark Besola's Pierce County TEDRA action. As this Court may recall, the trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on November 17, 2021 that detailed the facts known in November 17, 2021, but unknown prior to June 2021. See Appendix C. The trial court found that the will filed on May 8, 2019 (the "Pula Will") was a fake will created on April 19, 2019-more than four months after Mark Besola passed. See Appendix D. The trial court found that a conspiracy to commit fraud created the fake Pula Will and that Eric Pula, James Garrett, and Robyn Peterson were members of the conspiracy. The trial court, however, failed to include or exclude Brandon Gunwall and Kelly McGraw in the conspiracy, but rather found that "Robyn Peterson (possibly with the aid of others)" created the April 19, 2019 Will. The trial court never addressed the revisions between the three versions of the will (the original online form, the April 19, 2019 initial fake will, and the revised

to look back at the accurate state of facts and narratives that actually existed when Mr. Gunwall and Ms. McGraw brought and prevailed on their motions. These two motions occurred when all the residents of Mark Besola's home (including Gunwall and McGraw) were busy telling a unified fake narrative and presenting a unified legal front to defend and further the conspiratorial efforts to take Mark's Estate.

The problems related to the fake narrative continued to plague this matter when Division II's Opinion in this matter repeatedly cited to the false fact that Dr. Amy failed to name her sister as a respondent in her TEDRA Petition. In fact, Dr. Amy did name her sister as a respondent in the TEDRA Petition. The Opinion seemed to suggest that Dr. Amy's failure to name her sister as a respondent in the TEDRA action suggested a confection of motives by Dr. Amy that justified the trial court ordering her to pay Ms. McGraw's attorney's fees (which order is the root of this appeal). The Court of Appeals corrected itself

with its June 13, 2023 Order in this matter that simply deleted the false statements from Division II's final Opinion.

The simple truth is that Dr. Besola is a Washington citizen who lost her brother to the actions and inactions of Mr. Brandon Gunwall and who was the victim of a conspiracy to commit fraud to take her brother's Estate by use of false narratives, false facts, the maintenance of a false Estate, and by an online probate form sold by FormSwift (Dropbox recently purchased FormSwift). The fake will and conspiracy to commit fraud were only discovered after the near-close of the initial trial, which occurred well after Ms. McGraw prevailed on her Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss all claims against her. No court assessed whether Ms. McGraw's potential \$1.25M gift under the Pula Will or Ms. McGraw's status as a Trustee under the fake will was sufficient evidence to include her as a member of the conspiracy to commit fraud and no one had a chance to conduct discovery as to whether Ms. McGraw should be included in the conspiracy. Likewise, no court has even reviewed FormSwift's basic on-line will form, the April 19, 2019 fake will, and the *revisions* between these various will versions and the filed Pula Will to assess whether the revisions to the three will documents militate in favor of finding that Ms. McGraw is a member of the known conspiracy to commit fraud. In particular, no court has looked at how each version of the fake will treats the various property interests of Julia Besola and the interest of the barely known Besola half-siblings, yet each fake will adroitly addressed these obscure facts with the base of knowledge only possible by one of the siblings or by a siblings' self-proclaimed best friend.

After the second trial on the fake will, the trial court affirmed its award of attorney's fees from Dr. Amy to Ms. McGraw in response to Dr. Amy's Motion to revise the prior order requiring Dr. Amy to pay Ms. McGraw's attorney's fees—and it ordered that Eric Pula, a penniless underworld drifter, also be jointly and severally liable for such fees along with Dr. Amy.

Under these facts, it's difficult to see how such an award could be reasonable and just under RCW 11.96A.150. The

award of fees forced a victim of a criminal conspiracy to steal an entire Estate by fraud to pay the attorney's fees of a person who fought to support the conspiracy to gain \$1.25M and who was even a trustee under the fake will. It's appalling. Justice should free the victim from such an obligation and hold only the members of the conspiracy liable to pay for Ms. McGraw's attorney's fees.

Hence, this is an appeal from the trial court's order requiring Dr. Amy Besola ("Dr. Amy" or "Petitioner") to pay \$89,502.48 in attorney's fees to Ms. Kelly McGraw. As noted in the filings before the Court of Appeals, Ms. McGraw fought to enforce the fake Pula Will even after it became known that it was created more than 4 months after Mark Besola's death. Under these circumstances, it is manifestly unreasonable and excessive to require Dr. Amy to pay for such attorney's fees. Petitioner now files this *Petition for Review* to the Washington Supreme Court under RAP 13.4, which provides Petitioner with 30 days

from the June 13, 2023 Order on the Motion for Reconsideration to file the *Petition for Review*.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Dr. Amelia Besola, ("Dr. Amy" or "Petitioner")
respectfully moves for the relief set forth below.

### III. DECISION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the decision entered by Division II of Washington Court of Appeals on February 7, 202 (Court of Appeals No. 56725-3-II) (the "Decision" or "Opinion") and the Order on Reconsideration entered by the same Court on the same matter on June 13, 2023. Attached hereto as **Appendix A and B**, respectively.

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether, under RCW 11.96A.150, it is reasonable for the trial court in a TEDRA action to order the victim of a conspiracy to steal an entire Estate, by use of a fake will, to pay the attorney's fees and costs of a TEDRA action respondent who

fought to enforce the fake will even after the trial court found the will to be fake, who stood to take \$1.25M from the fake will, and who was named a trustee under the fake will, especially when the litigation against the respondent in question provided absolutely no benefit to the brother's Estate.

Whether the discovery of a fake will in a TEDRA action should mandate discovery to determine the scope of the conspiracy related to the creation of the fake will and a reconsideration of any substantive orders dismissing parties or claims decided prior to the discovery of the conspiracy to commit fraud by use of a fake will so that all substantive claims and liabilities may be decided on an accurate state of facts and not decided on facts created by the underlying conspiracy.

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial court's November 17, 2021, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law detailed what was known then about the conspiracy to commit fraud: Eric Pula, James Garrett, and

Robyn Peterson worked together to create and file a fake Mark Besola will on May 8, 2019. CP 125 at Paragraph 58. The trial court did not include Brandon Gunwall and Kelly McGraw in the conspiratorial group in its November 2021 Findings. It did however note that "Robyn Peterson (possibly with the aid of others) created the April 2019 Will and the December 2018 Will." CP 125 at Paragraph 57. Notably, the trial court did not consider in its Findings whether the sealed documents subject to Appellate Court Cause # 56205-7-11 provided evidence probative of Mr. Gunwall and Ms. McGraw's involvement in the conspiracy to commit fraud identified in the underlying Besola TEDRA matter. These sealed documents are now before this Court at Clerks Papers 387-405.

Whether Ms. McGraw is involved in the underlying conspiracy to commit fraud is relevant here because her status relative to the conspiracy bears directly on whether the trial court abused its discretion in ordering the Petitioner, Dr. Amy Besola, to pay Ms. McGraw \$89,502.48 in attorney's fees under RCW

11.96A.150. As stated in the Opening Brief, it is manifestly unreasonable to require Dr. Amy to be liable for the attorney's fees incurred by another's efforts to take \$1.25M under a fake Will for Dr. Amy's brother. This is true even if Ms. McGraw is innocent of the conspiracy to comment fraud. The members of the conspiracy should be liable for Ms. McGraw's attorney's fees and costs and not the victim of the fraud.

It is even more outrageous if Ms. McGraw was an active participant in the fraud. The Sealed Documents create the evidentiary basis for assessing whether the scope of the conspiracy expands to include Brandon Gunwall and Kelly McGraw. Comparing April 19, 2019 fake will set forth in the sealed documents (CP 390--CP 399) to the fake will filed on May 8, 2022 reveals revisions made to the fake Will during the 19 days between its creation on April 19 and its filing on May 8, 2022 ("Fake Will Revision Period").

The revisions to the fake Will reveal three things. The presence and operation of a criminal mind (maybe even a law

trained mind). The presence of a direct connection from Mr. Gunwall's January 25, 2019 hearing appearance to the fake will filed on May 8, 2019. And, the presence of someone with knowledge of factual details about the Besola family that would take years of close contact with the family to learn. Recall that of those involved in this matter, only Ms. McGraw knew both Besolas and their family history for more than 9 months. Ms. Robyn Peterson knew nothing about the Besola family. James Garrett knew only Mark Besola for weeks. Eric Pula and Brandon Gunwall only knew Mark Besola for months. Only Ms. McGraw knew both Dr. Amy and Mark Besola and their family history for decades. McGraw's Appeal Response at P. 3 ("Kelly has known the Besola siblings for decades."). Separate from the revisions to the fake will document, we also know that Ms. McGraw spoke with Mr. Gunwall for 134 minutes at 11:28 a.m. on April 28, 2019-right in the middle of the 19 days of the Fake Will Revision Period. When the sealed documents are finally unsealed there will be evidence that Ms. McGraw was a

participant in and not a victim of the fraud to take Mark Besola's Estate.

The revisions to the April 19, 2019 fake will directly tie Mr. Gunwall to the coconspirators trying to take Mark's Estate and nonprobate assets. In Mr. Gunwall's case, the evidentiary trail begins with his January 25, 2019 court appearance wherein the following happens:

- Mr. Gunwall tells the Court that Mark left him a life insurance policy so that he could care for the dogs and get a house with enough property to let em run. CP 266.
- The Court confronts Mr. Gunwall about his claim that Mark gave him the dogs and life insurance policy proceeds without supporting writing from Mark. The Court mentions that the Deadman Statute applies to preclude Mr. Gunwall's bare, verbal assertion of an oral agreement with Mark. CP 268.

Nothing in the April 19, 2019 fake will address the above issues. CP 393. This section, *The Directive for Pet Care*, of the April 19, 2019 fake will is silent as to an agreement between Mark and Mr. Gunwall for Mr. Gunwall to care for Mark's dogs as companion animals after Mark's death in exchange for being named the beneficiary of Mark's AVMA Group Health and Life

Insurance Trust. *Id.* The April 19, 2019 fake will is also silent about what happens if Mr. Gunwall breaches his "verbal contract" with Mark. *Id.* And finally, the April 19, 2019 fake will also fails to tie the Life Insurance Policy proceeds to whomever cares for the dogs. *Id.* This last point is key to Mr. Gunwall's attempted ruse because if the Life Insurance Policy go to anyone who cares for the dogs, then one could believe that the inclusion of the Life Insurance Policy proceeds was driven out of concern for the dogs and not simply because Mr. Gunwall had already told the Court that the insurance proceeds had been given to him by Mark. This last point is evidence of Mr. Gunwall's knowledge of his guilt.

Instead, someone revised the April 19, 2019 fake will to address all these issues in the fake will that was filed on May 8, 2019.

The to oward until or, and an animals that I may two at the time of my death, be given to brandon Gunwall presently moreling at 5314 218th Ave E. Lake Tappa. Wishington, 98391, we have made an agreement that he have and trust from as companion animals and it named beneficiary to my AVMA Group Health and Life Inscriptor's Trust to take care of my enimals.

Forevision Gurreall is unwilling or unable to occurs my animals, figure it breach if our verbal contract and its personal street in the personal residence of \$214.200 Ave. I Leth Tups. Westington, \$6291, with the personal residence of \$214.200 Ave. I Leth Tups. Westington, \$6291, with the fisse with first he must know as companion animals. In return the become herefocary to my within the group Hamiltonian Companion animals.

If End Puls is unwilling or unable is receive my animals, I required that KARE located at PC III. (24).

Therefore Asstraight DASKS whose telephone is 3606005717 and contact person is to receive my animals are required by an out-of-for and to start to idea as comes in a regular and I KARE is made to receive my animals, my Executive shall be set an appropriate person and I we give my

PET TYPE Oog Dog	PET NAME Bullwinkill Angle	MarkSamula Mark Basola
Dog	Rary	Mark Besold
Deg	Mopel	Mark Benoils
Don	Fancy	Mark Sepola

I instruct my Executor to lake my AVMA Stroug Health and Life Insurance. Trust and give it to the person who shall occord my animals, and I wan and direct that these funds be used adaily for the one and support of my animals.

(Underlines added).

Who but Brandon Gunwall would make these revisions to the April 19, 2019 fake will? These revisions only benefit Mr. Gunwall and costs other fact will beneficiaries over \$300,000. No one else would have an interest in making these changes. Mr. Gunwall had told the Court in January 25, 2019 that he had an agreement with Mark to take the dogs in exchange for him being the beneficiary of Mark's life insurance policy. The April 19, 2019 fake will directly undercut Mr. Gunwall's ("on the record") narrative to the Court because it omitted any reference to the

above agreement or oral contract and only fied \$300,000 to whomever cared for the dogs instead of the entire policy proceeds from Mark's Life Insurance Policy. Only Mr. Gunwall would revise the April 19, 2019 fake will to make these issues consistent with and supportive of his January 25, 2019 in-court statements. Thus Mr. Gunwall knew the will filed on May 8, 2019 was fake because these revisions were made during the Fake Will Revision Period. Yet Mr. Gunwall revised it anyway to bootstrap his claim to the Life Insurance Policy proceeds.

This conduct of using a fake filed will to bootstrap his claim to the nonprobate assets from the Life Insurance Policy shows he was aware of and participated in the conspiracy to commit fraud by revising the fake will after Mark's death and that he had guilty knowledge that his claim to the nonprobate asset was equally fake. Why would a rational person otherwise tie a legitimate claim to a nonprobate assets to a fake will?

Mr. Gunwall failed to anticipate that the fake will project would implicate his January 25, 2019 in-court claim to the dogs and Life Insurance Proceeds. Mr. Gunwall had to make the fake will consistent with what he told the Court on January 25, 2019. This means that after the April 19, 2019 fake will was created, someone had to tell him about the fake will terms and then he had to either revise the fake will directly or coach someone through the revisions. This last fact makes the April 28, 2019 134-minute FB phone call between Mr. Gunwall and Ms. McGraw relevant and potentially material to whether Ms. McGraw was and is a coconspirator.

Rany (Alled your

Duration: 134 minutes

#### Brandon Gunwall

If Mr. Gunwall was present when they created the fake will on April 19, 2019, the fake will would have included the terms from the filed fake will that benefited only Gunwall and his claim for the dogs and Life Insurance Policy proceeds. So there had to be communications between Gunwall and the creators of the fake will to make the "Gunwall Revisions." The above call is

evidence that Mr. Gunwall and Ms. McGraw talked during the Fake Will Revision Period, when both the Gunwall and McGraw Revisions occurred.

The identified creators of the fake will suffered from a lack of knowledge about Mark's assets and his family history. The conspirators had only known Mark for about 9 months at the longest and lacked knowledge of his assets beyond the Lake Tapps house and Mark's Hoquiam property. None of the conspirators knew the extent of Mark's financial accounts or the existence and extent of his Lopez Island and Spokane property holdings. The partial exception is Ms. McGraw who would have known about the Lopez Island Properties and the Besola halfsisters who lived in Michigan and Oregon (curiously there is no mention in the first fake will of the bounty of the Besola halfbrother who passed long ago). During the trial court discovery phase, Ms. McGraw repeatedly testified that she lacked any knowledge as to the extent and details of Mark financial and business dealings. Predictably, the details in both fake wills

reflect the extent and limits of what Ms. McGraw (based on her own statements) would know about Mark's life. Also, the first version of the fake will names Ms. McGraw as the Estate's Executor, Will Trustee, and Digital Executor. CPs 393-394. All of this is evidence of McGraw's involvement in the conspiracy to commit fraud.

Also, the following details from the fake wills and revisions evidence Ms. McGraw's input into creating the fake documents and involvement in the conspiracy:

- Inclusion of the Besola step-sisters but not step-brother in the April 19 fake will (CP 399);
- Inclusion of the Hoquiam House in the April 19 fake will (CP 391);
- Listing Ms. McGraw as the Estate Executor, Trustee, and digital Executor in the April 19 fake will (CPs 393-394);
- Removing Ms. McGraw as the Estate Executor and Digital Executor, but not as the Estate Trustee.
- Listing in the fake will filed on May 8, 2019 two properties owned jointly by Mark and his sister Julia; and
- Inclusion of the address for the family burial plots on Lopez Island in both fake wills (CP 391).

Last, the structure of the asset distribution from Mark's life has an evidentiary quality in and of itself. Of the parties and witnesses in the matter, only Ms. McGraw, Mr. Gunwall, and Mr. Pula lived at the house together from the end of March 2018 until after Mark's death. Any one of the three could have offered testimony that could have caused the entire conspiracy to fail. Mr. Pula took half of the estate, which is likely why he was substituted in as the Estate Executor and Digital Executor. Yet Mr. Gunwall and Ms. McGraw each were granted enough of the Estate to buy their silence and cooperation. Ms. McGraw fought for this effort even after it became clear that the filed Mark Besola will was fake. She fought for the conspiracy until the final bell. Ms. McGraw is no victim bereft of her agency. The evidence supports and is consistent with a finding that Ms. McGraw is a perpetrator and coconspirator. Requiring the Petitioner to pay the attorney's fees and costs Ms. McGraw incurred in her effort to support the common effort litigation in furtherance of the fraud even after the fraud was exposed would be shockingly outrageous.

The most troubling aspect of the above is that no court, no discovery process, and no forensic investigation has even attempted to bring an accurate statement of facts before the trial court or any judge to reconsider Ms. McGraw's Motion for Summary Judgment on the actual existing facts at the time of Ms. McGraw's Motion for Summary Judgment. This is relevant here because during the McGraw Motions the trial court stated on the record that the fake will influenced its assessment of the motions before it because the fake will stood as a testament to Mark Besola's intent as if his intent were "carved in stone." In truth, we now know that the fake will was smoke and that Ms. McGraw's litigation benefited no estate but her own. In truth, the McGraw related litigation was simply part of the storm that washed away a sister's tears of mourning for her little brother. It was not a reasonable basis to order an award of attorney's fees

and costs under RCW 11.96A.150 from Dr. Amy to Ms. McGraw.

# VI. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF REQUESTED

RCW 11.96A.150 provides the court with broad, equitable authority to award attorneys' fees and costs in TEDRA actions. An award of attorney's fees in a TEDRA action can be to make a party whole. See, Gillespie v. Seattle First Nat'l Bank, 70 Wn.App. 150, 855 P.2d 680 (1993). An award may be an attempt to put a party back to its position prior to the TEDRA action. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center v. Holman, 107 Wn.2d 693, 732 P.2d 974 (1987). The law favors fee awards made for the protection of beneficiaries. Laue v. Estate of Elder, 106 Wn.App. 699, 25 P.3d 1032 (2001).

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