FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/14/2023 1:53 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## No. 102190-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# AMELIA BESOLA,

Appellant,

v.

ERIC PULA, individually and as PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MARK L. BESOLA, and ET AL.,

Respondents.

KELLY McGRAW'S ANSWER TO AMELIA BESOLA'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

> Elizabeth C. Thompson, WSBA #32222 The Law Offices of Elizabeth C. Thompson (253) 793-1776 <a href="mailto:ethompson@elizabeththompsonlaw.com">ethompson@elizabeththompsonlaw.com</a> Attorneys for Respondent Kelly McGraw

# **

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

court granted Amy's motion to re-open the trial on the basis of these documents.

The re-opened trial ended in November of 2021. The trial court decided that the subject will was created after Mark's death and could not, therefore, have been signed by Mark. Importantly, at no time after Amy raised her new claim of fraud/forgery, after obtaining new documents, or as part of re-opening the trial on the Will Contest, did she seek to bring McGraw back into the lawsuit or otherwise amend the Will Contest to include McGraw as a potentially responsible party with respect to the alleged forgery. Claims on the fraud/forgery were litigated – twice – but Amy never brought the claims anew against the then-dismissed McGraw. Equally important is that Amy never appealed McGraw's dismissal from the Will Contest. Amy appealed many things, but never appealed the decision on summary

judgment to dismiss any and all claims against her.<sup>2</sup>

Notably, the period within which to file an appeal has now passed. Thus, all claims against McGraw that were made, or that could have been made including fraud and forgery, are now barred as to McGraw. Knowing this, Amy seeks to improperly interject these issues here on appeal. Amy knows this – having already failed in front of this very Court on similar arguments raised against Mr. Gunwall in her petition for review of the first TEDRA matter.

<u>Will Contest – Post-Trial Activity.</u> On December 17, 2021, Amy petitioned the trial court to vacate the judgment against her in favor of McGraw, or in the alternative, to shift her judgment to Eric Pula. Mr. Pula

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These claims are barred by res judicata, collateral estoppel, and applicable statutes of limitation. "When res judicata is used to mean claim preclusion, it encompasses the idea that when the parties to two successive proceedings are the same, the prior proceeding culminated in a final judgment, a matter may not be relitigated, or even litigated for the first time, if it could have been raised, and in the. Exercise of reasonable diligence should have been raised, in the prior proceeding." *Kelly-Hansen v. Kelly-Hansen*, 87 Wn. App. 320, 328-29, 941 P.2d 1108 (1997) (footnotes omitted).

was one of the parties that the trial court ultimately decided was responsible for the fraudulent will and Amy argued that, but for his actions, Amy would never have had to initiate litigation against anyone. The trial court denied Amy's motion to vacate, reasoning that while it may be true that litigation may not have been initiated absent Mr. Pula's actions, there truth remained that there was never any evidence to suggest that McGraw had done anything wrong and that Amy's scorched-earth litigation tactics justified the award of fees against her. Amy appealed the order denying her motion to vacate the judgment on March 3, 2022.

# **B.** Improper Expansion of the Record on Review

Amy's pleadings, both to the Court of Appeals and before this Court, are replete with improper allegations and unsubstantiated "facts" which are outside the record on review. Amy utilizes her "Introduction" sections to spin fanciful tales of conspiracy and fraud – theories that

she failed to raise at the proper time and place or that failed entirely in front of the trial court.

The decision at issue here, and affirmed by the Court of Appeals, is a simple one – whether it was appropriate for the trial court to deny Amy's request to vacate the judgment entered against her in favor of McGraw. The vast majority of Amy's petition can, therefore, simply be ignored as the rumblings of a disgruntled litigant trying to improperly "backdoor" a claim of fraud or conspiracy against McGraw, Mr. Gunwall, and a number of other conspirators unknown. 22 of the 25 pages of Amy's petition focus on matters that are completely irrelevant to the issue on appeal – namely, claims against McGraw and others, that Amy is now barred from raising before *any* court of law. Amy does not bother discussing why this Court should accept review until the bottom half of the 23<sup>rd</sup> page of her 25page petition. Amy ignores, entirely, the record upon

which the trial court's decision to enter judgment against her was based. The decision was proper, and Amy has failed to identify any legal basis for this Court's review of that decision.

## II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth four reasons for which this Court will accept review of a case:

- the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;
- (3) a significant question of law under theConstitution of the State of Washington or of the UnitedStates in involved;
- (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Amy fails to assert *any* of these grounds in her petition for review and this Court should simply deny her petition outright. At best, Amy's petition can be read to seek review on the grounds that it involves an issue of substantial public interest. The reality, however, is that Amy's arguments are better suited in a letter to her legislator than in a petition to this Court.

The issues before this Court therefore are very simple:

- 1. Whether the Supreme Court of Washington should accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals (motion for reconsideration denied) affirming a trial court's equitable decision to award costs and fees against a litigant under RCW 11.96A.150, that is not in conflict with any Surpreme Court Decsision? No.
- Whether the Supreme Court of Washington should accept review of a decision of the Court

of Appeals (motion for reconsideration denied) affirming a trial court's equitable decision to award costs and fees against a litigant under RCW 11.96A.150, that is not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals?

No.

- 3. Whether the Supreme Court of Washington should accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals (motion for reconsideration denied) affirming a trial court's equitable decision to award costs and fees against a litigant under RCW 11.96A.150, where there is no question of law under the United States or Washington State Constitution? No.
- 4. Whether the Supreme Court of Washington should accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals (motion for reconsideration denied) affirming a trial court's equitable decision to

award costs and fees against a litigant under RCW 11.96A.150, following almost two years of uniquely fact-based litigation involving private parties that does not involve an issue of substantial public interest? No.

# III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The actual and relevant facts of this case are well described in the Court of Appeals opinion at pages 4-8 (as amended), which McGraw hereby adopts as her counterstatement of the case.

It is extremely telling that 22 of the 25 pages of Amy's petition focus on facts unrelated to the award of fees against her and unrelated to RAP 13.4(b). Amy now theorizes, despite having failed to timely and properly pursue these claims in the trial court, that McGraw and others were involved in a conspiracy to defraud Mark's estate. Amy's statement of the case boils down to buyer's remorse at having spent hundreds of thousands,

millions even, in costs and attorneys' fees, and to not have prevailed against each and every person that found themselves in the path of her scorched-earth litigation tactics. Amy complains that it is somehow not equitable that she be forced to pay an award of McGraw's costs and attorneys' fees incurred defending the very serious and very meritless claims that she raised against her.

Amy's buyer's remorse, however, is not justification for granting review by this Supreme Court.

## IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

# A. Amy Cannot Establish any Reason for this Supreme Court to Grant Review

Amy has failed to assert any of the four reasons for which this Court can accept review. Even if she had, however, there is nothing in her petition, or supported in the record, that would satisfy any of the same.

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

Amy does not assert that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a prior decision of this Court. The Court can therefore simply rule that it does not.

2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Amy does not assert that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. The Court can therefore simply rule that it does not.

3. There is not a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

Amy does not assert that the Court of Appeals decision raises any question, significant or not, under either the Constitution of the United States or the State of Washington. Further, RAP 13.4(c)(9) sets forth that her appendix should include copies of any statutes or constitutional provisions relevant to the issues presented for review. That no such appendix was included with

Amy's petition confirms that there is no such question of law. The Court can therefore simply rule that no significant question of law under either Constitution exists.

- 4. Amy's petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court of Washington.
- a. The test for "substantial public interest."

To determine whether a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest, three factors must be considered: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers; and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. *State v. Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d 321, 330-31, 358 P.3d 385, 390 (2015). Continuing and substantial public interest has generally been shown in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, the validity of statutes or

regulations, and matters that are sufficiently important to the appellate court and it is not used in cases that are limited to their specific facts. *Id.* None of the three factors to be considered are present in this case and it is extremely telling that Amy fails to discuss any legal authority as to what constitutes continuing and substantial public interest in the limited 2 ½ pages devoted to why this Court should accept review.

This was a complicated, and very fact-specific case, that involved hotly disputed claims related to Mark and his family as well as the numerous respondents who were unlucky enough to find themselves in Amy's path of scorched-earth litigation tactics. Overwhelming evidence was submitted at various motions for summary judgment and at 2 separate trials, regarding Mark's life and all of the allegations raised by Amy. The circumstances surrounding Mark's health, drug abuse, and living arrangements are extremely unique and arose

out of a set of facts related to the private life of the Decedent and his friends. Despite the mountain of asserted evidence brought by Amy, mostly immaterial, there was a complete lack of evidence to implicate any wrongdoing by McGraw. This case involves no constitutional questions, nor does it involve the interpretation of any statutes. A decision here will not affect or provide any guidance whatsoever to any public officers.

# b. <u>There is no likelihood of future recurrence.</u>

Being abundantly clear that this matter was clearly private in nature and has no implications for guidance to public officers, Amy hangs her hat on the 3<sup>rd</sup> factor of the test. Amy argues, without any factual or legal support, that this case presents a problem – new legal questions – that are "likely to increase in occurrence" due to the "popularity of online legal forms and probate forms in particular." Amy presents no support for this assertion.

This is likely due to the fact that online legal forms, including probate forms, have been around for decades now. Amy asserts that the "heart" of this problem is evidenced by the Court of Appeals decision itself when it affirmed the trial court's order because the fraud was never connected to McGraw. Amy ignores the fact that the fraud was, in fact, never connected to McGraw, because she had the opportunity to take the elementary steps of bringing McGraw back into the case and including her in the trial, and re-opened trial, on the question of fraud. Amy then makes the absurd recommendation that this Court should "announce a new rule' that would allow her to re-litigate claims and dispositive motions against people like McGraw. This is not because Amy did not have her day in court – not because Amy did not have the chance to prove her claims against McGraw and others – but because Amy made a

mistake in litigating her claims in the trial court and wants this Court to give her a chance to cure it now.

It follows, that this Court cannot find that it is unconscionable for a victim of a conspiracy to pay the costs and attorneys' fees of another involved in the "common-effort litigation" in furtherance of the fraud, when no such conspiracy was proven as to McGraw.

# c. The award of costs and fees was justified.

RCW 11.96A.150 allows the trial court to award costs and fees from any party and to any party. This is a discretionary award. As the Court of Appeals rightly understood, the question before the court was whether the award of fees to McGraw was proper regardless of the outcome of the will contest. Amy never brought McGraw back in nor did she amend her claims to include new claims of fraud against McGraw (McGraw having already been dismissed with an existing claim of fraud at the time of her dismissal). She could have, but she did

not. The trial court determined that even though the will was forged, Amy was not justified in her actions with respect to McGraw and the award of costs and fees was therefore still proper. It was the meritless claims that Amy litigated against McGraw that supported the award of costs and fees – not the claims regarding the fraudulent will – and the trial court upheld that award even after knowing of the fraud because Amy did not prove that McGraw had anything to do with it. Amy's argument that McGraw had something to do with the fraud should fail here, just as they did in the Court of Appeals, because Amy failed to raise this argument before the trial court, it is waived on appeal pursuant to RAP 2.5(a). There is simply no evidence before this Court or in the record that the trial court abused its discretion in granting McGraw's award of costs and fees. Amy fabricates facts and arguments to support the assertion that there is a public interest in this case.

Simply stated - there is not.

# V. CONCLUSION

Amy's petition fails to set forth any justification under RAP 13.4 for Supreme Court review. The decision of the Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court's award of costs and fees is not at odds with any Supreme Court decision or published opinion of the Court of Appeals. The decision of the Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court's award of costs and fees does not raise a question of law under the United States Constitution or that of the State of Washington. The decision of the Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court's award of costs and fees does not present an issue of continuing substantial public interest. This was a standard case in which McGraw defeated meritless claims raised against her by Amy that arose out of a unique set of facts arising out of the

administration of a decedent's estate. Amy appeals the trial court's decision to award McGraw's costs and fees, but not the decision to dismiss any and all claims against her with prejudice and therefore she has no recourse to now pursue claims against McGraw for fraud that would justify granting review. As such, Amy's petition for review should be denied.